095

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA



AUG 31 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

BRUCE A. JOHNSON, MARTHA RICH, ALFRED SCHEMPP and JUDITH OSIT, For Themselves and All Others Similarly Situated,

CASE NO. 82,237

Petitioners,

PLANTATION GENERAL HOSPITAL, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, 4TH DCA CASE NO. 93-0059
- CLASS REPRESENTATION -

Respondents,

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF TO ACCOMPANY NOTICE TO THE SUPREME COURT TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

HERBERT T. SCHWARTZ
Florida Bar No. 100248
CABANISS, BURKE & WAGNER, P.A.
Suite 1800
800 North Magnolia Avenue
Post Office Box 2513
Orlando, FL 32802-2513
(407) 246-1800

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case, one of several state wide consumer class actions, came to the District Court of Appeal after a circuit court challenge upon the grounds that the claims of the class representatives did not meet the \$15,000 jurisdictional floor of the circuit court. The circuit judge (similar to other circuit judges in other class actions) rejected the defendant hospital's theory that each class representative and each class member must have a contract claim in excess of \$15,000 in order for this class action to be maintained in circuit court.

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District rendered and entered its decision upon an opinion of July 14, 1993. (App. 12)

The gravamen of the district court's opinion is that the claims of class members may not be aggregated to permit circuit court subject matter jurisdiction even though the claim of the class is far in excess of the \$15,000 jurisdictional floor of the circuit court. It is that jurisdictional decision for which review is sought by the Supreme Court

The named class representatives, and the class, apply to this Court for the issuance of its order invoking discretionary jurisdiction directed to the court of appeal for review of that court's opinion and decision.

This application is made pursuant to the "all writs" provision of Rule 9.030(a)(3), as well as Rule 9.100(c)(1) and Rule 9.120 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The nature of the order sought to be reviewed is the opinion and decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Florida, rendered July 14, 1993. (App. 12) The Supreme Court's jurisdiction is appropriate to be exercised in this action because the trial court to which the district court assigned the underlying class action (the County Court of Palm Beach County) is itself without jurisdiction to afford the relief sought by this class action, namely, a judgment against the defendant hospital in the tens of millions of dollars for patient overcharges. The final judgment jurisdiction of the County Court by law may not exceed the sum of \$15,000. This Court has previously held that an erroneous ruling on the issue of subject matter jurisdiction is reviewable by [discretionary writ]:

An incorrect decision on subject matter jurisdiction is fundamental error. It constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of law, sufficient to justify invocation of this court's certiorari jurisdiction.

Stel-Den of Am. Inc. v. Roof Structures, Inc., 438 So.2d 882, 884
(Fla. 4th DCA 1983), rev. denied, 450 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1984), citing
Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. v. Thomasville, 100 Fla. 748, 130
So. 7 (Fla. 1930).

The determination in this cause by the lower tribunal raises distinct and critical subject matter jurisdictional issues the resolution of which are appropriate for this Court.

The district court's majority opinion, as pointed out by Judge Stone's dissent, is not consistent with this Court's decision in State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla.

489, 129 So. 816 (1930) (App. 15) and with this Court's holding in Frankel v. City of Miami Beach, 340 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1976). (App. 17) Thus, in addition to the rule-based jurisdictional authority cited above, the precedential conflicts with Chillingworth and Frankel, supra. indicate that the underlying question of the jurisdictional confusion pointed out by Judge Stone in his dissenting opinion requires resolution by the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The named plaintiffs and the class which they represent comprise more than 100,000 former patients of the defendant hospital. As is alleged in the underlying complaint, each patient has been subject to the identical type of overcharging practices by the defendant hospital. (App. 1, Paragraph 9) The fact that no individual class member has a claim in excess of \$15,000 is non sequitur. The entire class of overcharge victims has been subject to monetary injury in a total amount in excess of several million dollars. (App. 1)

The Relief Sought:

The class seeks monetary recovery of overcharges for the three distinct categories of hospital charges alleged in the complaint. Such recovery must come from a common fund created either through judgment or settlement paid by the defendant hospital. The amount of any individual's recovery will be the subject of determination by a common-fund claims administrator upon appropriate proof. The thousands of class members will not obtain separate and individual judgments from the court based on the

jury's finding of total overcharges. The court will be asked to enter a single judgment for the entire class as opposed to more than 100,000 individual judgments for amounts estimated to be in the \$200-\$300 range.

The relief sought from the Supreme Court is consistent with the nature of class action litigation. Upon review, this Court should vacate the district court's decision and reinstate the trial court's determination as found in its order denying the hospital's motions to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. (App. 6)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The nature of class actions as a vehicle to take many individual small claims that would not be feasible to pursue individually, and bring them in a single cause, has long been recognized by this Court and met with judicial favor. A class action is the quintessential means of obtaining the economy of judicial labor and resources favored by our courts.

The instant class, like that seen in virtually all consumer class actions, is comprised of individuals (hospital patients) each of whom have a claim as a victim of overcharging by the defendant hospital for pharmaceuticals, supplies and laboratory tests. Typical of consumer classes, the individual patient has been overcharged and states a claim in an amount well below the \$15,000 jurisdictional threshold of the circuit court. Also, typical of consumer class actions, the aggregated sum of the class

of many thousands of patients exceeds the \$15,000 barrier by several million dollars.

The lower tribunal, in a 2-1 decision (Judge Stone dissenting) established the governing case law that individual class member's claims, even though arising from the same business relationship and course of business conduct, may not be considered as a unitary claim by the class as alleged in the complaint.

The district court decision is not consistent with this Court's governing authority and precedent and constitutes a departure from an essential requirement of law. The district court's jurisdictional decision casts the cause of hundreds of thousands of class members (there are several similar actions pending around the state) seeking monetary damages and recovery of tens of millions of dollars into the several county courts which do not have the jurisdictional authority to render judgment in the amounts claimed by the classes in these cases.

The Supreme Court has previously considered this jurisdictional issue and has, without equivocation, established governing case law that is contravened by the decision sought to be reviewed.

The class seeks to have the district court's decision on jurisdiction vacated; the dissenting opinion of Judge Stone recognized as the correct view and the trial court's rejection of the hospital's jurisdictional challenge reinstated to govern the future course of this action and to serve as authority for similar pending cases.

ARGUMENT

THE MAJORITY OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT DISREGARDS THIS COURT'S STANDARDS FOR THE NATURE OF CLASS ACTION CLAIMS AND THE JUDI-CIAL HOSPITALITY THAT EXISTS FOR CONSUMER CLASS ACTIONS.

The district court simply stated that the class members' individual hospital bills containing the overcharges are separate from each other and the multimillion dollar claim of the class cannot suffice for circuit court jurisdiction. The district court's opinion is just wrong, but more important, a departure from the essential requirements of law and warrants this Court's grant of discretionary review. Such review has been recognized as the means to correct essential illegality. See Chief Justice Boyd's special concurrence in Jones v. State, 477 So.2d 566-569 (Fla. 1985). Here the decision to be reviewed contradicts the legal analysis of Chillingworth and Frankel and it thus poses the paradox; how can a county court with a jurisdictional ceiling of \$15,000 enter one single judgment for several million dollars in a class action case. That question was asked in the class' brief below. The district court neither dealt with the issue nor answered the critical question. The trial judge considered that issue and rejected the hospital's argument that each class representative and class member must individually meet the circuit court's jurisdictional floor.

The district court rather matter-of-factly said:

"That does not leave them without a remedy, of course. It simply means that they must bring their suit in county courts." (App. 12)

That opinion would be correct if this action were solely for the named plaintiffs bringing a suit to obtain a judgment recovering their own, individual small amounts of damages. Individual judgments by the county court for \$200 or \$300 would be appropriate and enforceable. But the district court misperceives the nature of consumer class actions. These "small dollar plaintiffs" are not asserting their own individual claims in the action. asserting the claim of the class of more than 100,000 patients, in which each of the named plaintiffs happens to have a small dollar interest. The class does not seek individual judgments for 100,000 patients, only a single judgment in excess of \$10 million as a is axiomatic that class actions are the common fund. Ιt appropriate way for many persons with small claims, that standing alone would not be feasible to pursue, to join in asserting a common and related right arising from a commercial context.

The Florida Supreme Court addressed the question of whether individual claims could be aggregated so as to bring an action within the jurisdiction of the circuit court. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla. 489, 129 So. 816 (1930). The amount material to each Chillingworth claimant was below the circuit court's jurisdictional limit, but in the aggregate, the jurisdictional limit was met. This court held that aggregation of the individual claims was proper because the individual demands were affected by a common right and were related. See Container Corp. of America v. Seaboard Air Line RR, 59 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 1952).

In its reasoning, this Court first considered the rule adopted in some states that jurisdiction is fixed by the amount of each separate demand. After citing an Arkansas case that represented this restrictive view, the Florida Supreme Court stated:

This court is, however, committed to the rule that, if the demands from their nature or character are joint or composite, or are in some way related to each other or arise out of the same transaction, circumstance, or occurrence, they may be aggregated to confer jurisdiction.

<u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). Thus, the Florida Supreme Court has already rejected the view announced by the district court in the instant cause. The Supreme Court in <u>Chillingworth</u> describes the correct essential element of law material to the instant patient class.

The claim of the class alleged in this case arises from the defendant hospital's uniform and institutional method of imposing overcharges on the class. It is non sequitur that each patient/class member has a separate hospital bill. The class alleges and claims under a common right, specifically, the contractually implied covenant of reasonableness and the doctrine of "imposition" Southern States Power v. Ivey, 118 Fla. 756, 160 So. 46 (1935). The claims of all class members are related to each other and "arise out of the same ... circumstance ..." Container Corp. of America v. Seaboard Air Line RR, 59 So.2d 737 (1952) favorably citing, Burkhart v. Gowin, 86 Fla. 376, 98 So. 140 at 142 (Fla.). The issue of aggregation comes down to the question of whether these class members have "distinct and separate interests"

or whether they are "claiming under a common right." Commonality has been well pled and is fully described in the complaint. The common right to be vindicated arises from the consistent course of business conduct by which the hospital overcharged each patient for three categories of items also described in the complaint. (App. 1) If the county judge cannot enter a judgment for \$10 million then the defendant has effectively created a classic "catch-22" and defeated a meritorious claim and obstructed the proper operation of our court system.

CONCLUSION

Instead of solving the jurisdictional problems of class action cases such as this, the district court has created a nightmare of confusion and uncertainty. It should be clear and unmistakable that the class asserts a common claim arising from a singular and wrongful course of business conduct. The claim of the class far exceeds the floor of the circuit court. The claim of the class cannot be divided by some mechanical process that elevates form over substance. The lower appellate tribunal's opinion and decision should be subject to this court's review and vacated with a recognition that the unified claim of the consumer class is the basis of the relief sought and that such relief is within the circuit court's jurisdiction.

HERBERT T. SCHWARTZ

Florida Bar No. 100248

CABANISS, BURKE & WAGNER, P.A.

Suite 1800

800 North Magnolia Avenue

Post Office Box 2513

Orlando, FL 32802-2513

(407) 246~1800

RICHARD G. COLLINS, P.A.