IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,237

BRUCE A. JOHNSON, MARTHA RICH, ALFRED SCHEMPP and JUDITH OSIT,

Petitioners,

VS.

PLANTATION GENERAL HOSPITAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Deborah A. Sampieri
KENNY NACHWALTER SEYMOUR ARNOLD
CRITCHLOW & SPECTOR, P.A.
400 Miami Center
201 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-2305
Telephone: (305) 373-1000
Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners were Plaintiffs in the Circuit Court for the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit. Each alleges that he or she received medical treatment at Respondent Plantation General Hospital and was overcharged for drugs, supplies and laboratory tests. Each was treated on a different date, for different complaints and in different circumstances. Thus, the relationship between the Hospital and each Plaintiff, as well as between the Hospital and each member of the class they seek to represent, arose out of different circumstances. Counsel for Plaintiffs has conceded that no named Plaintiff individually meets the jurisdictional threshold of the circuit court. Petitioners' Jurisdictional Brief at 4 ("amounts estimated to be in the \$200-300 range").

Respondent moved to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction noting that no Plaintiff individually asserted a claim in excess of the statutory jurisdictional requirements of the circuit court. Petitioners argued that their class action allegations permitted aggregation of their clients' claims to meet the jurisdictional threshold. The circuit court agreed with Petitioners. The Fourth District Court of Appeal disagreed, granted a writ of prohibition, and ordered the case transferred to county court.

In its opinion, the district court noted that State ex. rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla. 489, 129 So. 816 (1930) and Burkhart v. Gowin, 86 Fla. 376, 98 So. 140 (1923), did not permit aggregation of claims based on "separate and isolated transactions between one party and several other parties unrelated to one another and not jointly

participating in the transaction with the others." Opinion at 4.1 Implicitly, the district court found that the claims were separate and distinct rather than joint. Opinion at 2-3. Even the dissenting Judge did not quarrel with the implicit factual reasoning. Instead, he theorized, without statutory citation, that class action jurisdiction lies exclusively in the circuit courts. This theory was rejected in the majority opinion.

Petitioners filed a "Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction," stating that the decision "directly conflicts with previous decisions of the Supreme Court. . . . " Petitioners state in their jurisdictional brief that their "application [to the Supreme Court for Discretionary Review] is made pursuant to the 'all writs' provision of Rule 9.030(a)(3), as well as Rule 9.100(c)(1) and Rule 9.120 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure."

¹ The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision is reported at 621 So.2d 551. For ease of reference, the citations in this brief will be to the Opinion as issued, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue below was whether the circuit court has jurisdiction over claims of individuals when those claims individually fall within the exclusive jurisdiction of the county court, but when plaintiffs seek to represent a class. That question was decided in the negative by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Petitioners have sought to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review the district court's decision claiming it conflicts with prior decisions of this Court. Pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.120(d), Petitioners were required to brief the question of this Court's jurisdiction. Instead, they have tried to brief the merits of the issue they want reviewed: circuit court jurisdiction.

This Court does not have jurisdiction to hear this issue. The district court's decision did not "expressly and directly conflict with a decision of ... the supreme court on the same question of law," as required by the Florida Constitution, Art. V, §3(b)(3) and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P. The district court's decision was based on the correct application of precedents in this Court to the facts as determined below. There is no conflict. Perhaps recognizing that the district court's opinion does not meet the requirements for conflict based jurisdiction, Petitioners also tried to invoke the original jurisdiction of the court through Rules 9.030(a)(3) and 9.100(c)(1). These rules do not provide an independent basis for jurisdiction and do not provide a vehicle for review in this Court.

For those reasons, this Court should not accept jurisdiction of this matter.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court's Opinion Neither Expressly Nor Directly Conflicts With Any Prior Decision of the Supreme Court

Petitioners cite Fla. R. App. P. 9.120 in an effort to invoke the jurisdiction of the Court. Rule 9.120, however, only applies to the discretionary jurisdiction invoked pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A), which limits the jurisdiction of the Court to six narrowly designated categories. Though not stated anywhere in their brief, Petitioners' Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction relies on the Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review "decisions of district courts of appeal that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Petitioners' Notice states that "the decision directly conflicts with previous decisions of the Supreme Court on the issue of class action claims being within the jurisdiction of the circuit court when no single class member's claim exceeds \$15,000 but when the claim of the class in the aggregate far exceeds such amount." Thus, it appears that Petitioners are invoking conflict based jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. Const. Art. V, § 3(b)(3) and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

Petitioners' limited discussion of the conflict jurisdiction of this Court begins in the statement of the case on page 2 of their brief:

The district court's majority, as pointed out by Judge Stone's dissent, is not consistent with this Court's decision in State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla. 489, 129 So.2d 816 (1930) . . . and with this Court's holding in Frankel v. City of Miami Beach, 340 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1976). . . . Thus, in addition to the rule-based jurisdictional authority cited above, the precedential conflicts with Chillingworth and Frankel . . . indicate that the underlying question of the jurisdictional confusion pointed out by Judge Stone in his dissenting opinion requires resolution by the Supreme Court.

Petitioners argue that the "district court decision is not consistent with this Court's governing authority and precedent and constitutes a departure from an essential requirement of law The Supreme Court has previously considered this jurisdictional issue and has, without equivocation, established governing case law that is contravened by the decision sought to be reviewed." Petitioners' brief at 5.

Petitioners' argument is incorrect. In fact, the Fourth District's ruling is perfectly consistent with prior case law and applies the standard articulated by this Court in State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla. 489, 129 So.2d 816 (1930), and Burkhart v. Gowin, 86 Fla. 376, 98 So. 140 (1923). As stated by the district court:

the issue turns on whether their claims are legally considered *joint* as opposed to separate and distinct. It is clear to us from the complaint that the only connection between the plaintiffs and the class members, and indeed the only thing they have in common, is that they were all overcharged. That is not the kind of *joint* claim of right, however, that allows stacking of individual claims for jurisdictional purposes.

Opinion at 2-3 (emphasis in original) (footnote omitted). This statement demonstrated the court's understanding and application of the *Chillingworth* rule.² In *Chillingworth*, this Court permitted several plaintiffs suing for the interest on a sequential series of bonds to aggregate claims. These claims were to a sum of money to be divided among themselves arising out of the same interest obligation on the same series of bonds. Thus, a specific and determinate sum of money was due; who got the money was immaterial to the obligee, and the claims were

Petitioners do not clearly state whether they contend that the Fourth District's opinion conflicts with Container Corp. of Am. v. Seaboard Air Line R. Co., 59 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1952). Seaboard deals with aggregation in the context of an ongoing relationship similar to an open account where each party's claims were aggregated with all of their own transactions with the railroad. No two parties' claims were aggregated with each other. Petitioners do not seek to aggregate multiple claims of one party established in an ongoing relationship with multiple transactions.

truly joint and common. In the instant case, the claims arise out of different transactions, with a different sum to be awarded to each plaintiff depending on what amount, if any, he was overcharged. Thus, as the Fourth District ruled, the claims are separate and non-aggregable as set forth in *Burkhart*.

Furthermore, the district court acknowledged Petitioners' misconstruction of the prior case law. "Plaintiffs seek to torture State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth... and Burkhart v. Gowin... into a meaning that would allow these claims to be aggregated because they 'are in some way related to each other.'" Opinion at 3. Utilizing the examples provided by this Court in Burkhart, the Fourth District noted that while the "illustrations may apply to dealings between the same parties, they plainly do not apply to separate and isolated transactions between one party and several other parties unrelated to one another and not jointly participating in the transaction with the others." Id. at 4. Although the Petitioners may not agree with the Fourth District's result, the court was simply applying the rule articulated by this Court in its prior decisions.

Based on the factual distinctions noted by the Fourth District, there is no conflict with *Chillingworth*. If the facts are analytically distinguishable, a conflict does not exist and this Court's jurisdiction may not be invoked. *See Department of Revenue v. Johnston*, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983).

The majority decision does not cite Frankel v. City of Miami Beach, 340 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1976). Nonetheless, this does not create the conflict necessary to support jurisdiction. Frankel does not deal with jurisdiction or aggregation of claims to meet jurisdictional thresholds. It deals with the standards for class actions. That issue was not the question for either the circuit court or the Fourth District. The majority decision does not address the propriety of class certification, and therefore is not in conflict with Frankel. The Fourth

District's decision is so unrelated to the issue in *Frankel* that not even an inherent conflict can be said to exist. Because these cases are not decided on the same legal issue, *Frankel* does not support conflict based jurisdiction. *See Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v.*National Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1986).

In order to create a conflict, Petitioners rely on Judge Stone's dissenting opinion.³ However, this Court has held that the "direct and express conflict" must be evident from an examination of the majority decision. *Reaves v. State*, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). The Court may only consider what is "contained within the four corners of the decision allegedly in conflict." *Id.* at 830 n.3. "Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction." *Id.* at 830. Therefore, Petitioners cannot rely on Judge Stone's opinion to establish conflict jurisdiction. On its face, the majority decision presents neither the express nor the direct conflict necessary to create jurisdiction.

Petitioners' arguments essentially seek a declaration that county courts may not hear consumer class actions, even if the amount in controversy is within the exclusive jurisdiction of the county court. There is no authority for that proposition. This Court has never decided the issue. Therefore, there can be no conflict between the district court's opinion and prior decisions of this Court. As set forth above, this Court should not accept jurisdiction on the basis of the alleged conflicts between the Fourth District Opinion and prior decisions of this Court, because no such conflicts exist.

³ At page 2, Petitioners' brief argues that the dissent points out inconsistencies between the majority opinion and *Chillingworth* and *Frankel*. With respect to *Chillingworth*, Judge Stone stated: "I cannot conclude that a class action of this nature does not meet the Chillingworth criteria." Opinion at 7. With respect to *Frankel*, he noted that *Frankel* does not address the aggregation issue. *Id*.

B. The "All Writs" Provisions of Rules 9.030 and 9.100(c)(1) Do Not Provide an Independent Basis to Invoke the Court's Jurisdiction

Because conflict jurisdiction does not exist, this Court does not have certiorari or other common law writ jurisdiction. Petitioners have misunderstood the effect of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Consistent with Article V of the Florida Constitution, the Rules provide that the "supreme court may issue . . . all writs necessary to the complete exercise of its jurisdiction" Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(3). This rule, however, does not constitute an independent basis for the jurisdiction of the Court. The "all writs" provision may not be invoked unless the Court has "already acquired jurisdiction of a cause on some independent basis, and the complete exercise of that jurisdiction might be defeated if the Court did not issue an appropriate writ or other process" Shevin v. Public Service Commission, 333 So.2d 9, 12 (Fla. 1976); see also Florida Senate v. Graham, 412 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1982); St. Paul Title Insurance Corp. v. Davis, 392 So.2d 1304, 1305 (Fla. 1980). As this Court has not already acquired jurisdiction, this provision provides no rights to Petitioners.

Petitioners also attempt to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court by citing Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(c)(1). However, the Petitioners' request for "common law certiorari" pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.100(c)(1) is contrary to Florida law. The Supreme Court has not had the authority to issue common law writs of certiorari for many years, but rather this power is reserved for the district and circuit court. *Dresner v. City of Tallahassee*, 164 So.2d 208, 210 (Fla. 1964); see also Allen v. McClamma, 500 So.2d 146, 147 (Fla. 1987); Vetrick v. Hollander, 464 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1985); Ramagli Realty Co. v. Craver, 121 So.2d 648, 651 n.9 (Fla. 1960).

⁴ Petitioners rely on *Jones v. State*, 477 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1985), for the proposition that a departure from the essential requirements of law authorizes this Court's review. *Jones'* reference to that principle applied to the jurisdiction of the district court, not to its own.

In order to avoid these fatal blows to their jurisdictional theories, Petitioners rely on Stel-Den of Am., Inc. v. Roof Structures, Inc., 438 So.2d 882 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), rev. denied, 450 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1984), for the proposition that "an erroneous ruling on the issue of subject matter jurisdiction is reviewable by a [discretionary writ]" by the Florida Supreme Court. Stel-Den, decided by a district court, decided only the question of the district court's jurisdiction. Certiorari jurisdiction is available in district courts. Fla. Const. Art. 5, §4(b)(3). As demonstrated above, it is not available in this Court. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. City of Thomasville, 100 Fla. 748, 130 So. 7 (Fla. 1930), which was decided prior to the eradication of the Supreme Court's authority to issue writs of common law certiorari, no longer provides a basis for invoking this Court's jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Petitioners have failed to support their claim that the Fourth District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with prior decisions of this Court. Neither tortured interpretations of prior authority nor references to the dissenting opinion support the exercise of jurisdiction in this Court. No basis for discretionary review or issuance of a writ of certiorari exists. Therefore, this Court should deny further review.

⁵ Petitioners' brief notes that Stel-Den was decided by this Court. Brief at 2. This is obviously incorrect.

The Fourth District's jurisdiction was properly invoked. No argument is made that the district court exceeded its jurisdiction. Petitioners' quarrel is, instead, with the decision reached. Thus, Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. City of Thomasville, 100 Fla. 748, 130 So. 7 (1930), has no bearing on this Court's jurisdiction. Hartford's dicta that "any order ... of an inferior court which has the effect of unduly extending the jurisdiction of that court may be reviewed in certiorari," is therefore not applicable. As Hartford was decided long before the abolition of certiorari jurisdiction in this Court, even that dicta is questionable.